Uldaho Law

## Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

---

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

---

11-17-2017

### State v. Derrick Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44985

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### Nature of the Case

A jury found Robert Snow Derrick guilty of felony injury to a child. The mental state for this offense is “willfully,” which is explicitly defined by statute. During closing argument, the prosecutor misstated the law on the willful mental state and therefore committed misconduct. Mr. Derrick asserts this prosecutorial misconduct clearly violated his unwaived constitutional right to a fair trial and was not harmless. In addition, Mr. Derrick contends the district court abused its discretion by admitting an audio recording of his conversation with a police officer because the State did not establish proper foundation.

### Statement of Facts and Course of Proceedings

The State charged Mr. Derrick with felony injury to a child, in violation of I.C. § 18-1501(1), for punching his thirteen-year-old stepson, R.B., in the abdomen and/or spleen.<sup>1</sup> (R., pp.69–70.) Mr. Derrick pled not guilty and exercised his right to a jury trial. (R., p.75.)

At trial, R.B. testified that Mr. Derrick put him in a chokehold after R.B. had pulled a kitchen knife on Mr. Derrick. (Tr., p.197, L.2–p.200, L.16.) R.B. said that Mr. Derrick then punched him in the stomach and threw him outside on the back patio. (Tr., p.199, L.20–p.200, L.16, p.201, L.10–p.203, L.11.) Ms. Derrick, who was R.B.’s mother, two doctors that treated R.B., and three police officers also testified in the State’s case-in-chief. (*See generally* Tr., p.117, L.20–p.186, L.9 (Ms. Derrick); p.232, L.2–p.256, L.15 (Dr. D’Angelo); p.272, L.3–p.304, L.25 (Officer Hayes); p.306, L.16–p.317, L.13 (Officer Cyr); p.317, L.20–p.345, L.11 (Dr. Lamb); p.348, L.15–p.372, L.10 (Officer Jansen).) Mr. Derrick testified in his defense. (*See generally*

Tr., p.380, L.18–p.448, L.17.) He admitted that he grabbed R.B. and tossed him outside, but he denied hitting him in the stomach. (Tr., p.400, L.9–p.405, L.14.)

On rebuttal, the State sought to admit an audio recording of Mr. Derrick’s conversation with a police officer on the night of the alleged offense (State’s Exhibit 9). (Tr., p.481, L.2–p.483, L.21; State’s Ex. 9.) Officer Hayes and Officer Jansen had both arrived at the scene, and Officer Jansen interviewed Mr. Derrick while Officer Hayes interviewed Ms. Derrick. (Tr., p.273, L.15–p.276, L.6 (Officer Hayes); p.349, L.23–p.353, L.6 (Officer Jansen). Officer Jansen testified that they both had their audio recorders on. (Tr., p.353, Ls.7–21, p.481, L.6–p.482, L.5.) In seeking to admit this recording of Officer Jansen’s conversation with Mr. Derrick, the State did not call Officer Jansen to lay a foundation. The State called Officer Hayes instead. (Tr., p.480, L.20–p.482, L.16.) Mr. Derrick objected for lack of foundation. (Tr., p.482, Ls.17–25.) The district court overruled his objection and admitted the recording. (Tr., p.483, Ls.9–10, 18–19.) The district court reasoned, “The witness has testified that as to what this audio is. It purports to be statements of the defendant, which are certainly admissible. There’s no indication of lack of accuracy of the recordings, so I think there’s sufficient foundation. (Tr., p.483, Ls.10–15.) The State then played the recording for the jury. (Tr., p.483, L.24.) The State used this recording to impeach Mr. Derrick regarding his demeanor during his interaction with the police and his recollection of the events in question. (Tr., p.414, Ls.4–14, p.429, L.21–p.431, L.14, p.444, L.2–p.447, L.25, p.484, L.1–p.485, L.16.) For example, Mr. Derrick testified that he was nervous and shaky, but, in the audio recording, he can be heard speaking casually and joking. (*Compare* Tr., p.444, L.12–p.445, L.8, *with* State’s Ex. 9.)

---

<sup>1</sup> Mr. Derrick was also charged with misdemeanor domestic battery in the presence of a child, R.B., for striking his wife, Ms. Derrick, during the same course of events. (R., p.70.) The jury found him not guilty of this charge. (Tr., p.559, Ls.7–9; R., pp.164, 180)

After the presentation of evidence, the district court and the parties discussed the final jury instructions. (*See generally* Tr., p.494, L.6–p.506, L.16.) The district court explained, and the prosecutor agreed, that the definition of willful for felony injury to a child was different from the standard definition of willful in the Idaho Code. (Tr., p.500, L.16–p.501, L.14.) *Compare* I.C. § 18-101(1) (“wilfully” definition), *with* I.C. § 18-1501(5) (“willfully” definition for this section). The instruction proposed by the district court read: “The word “willfully” as used in this instruction means acting where a reasonable person would know the act is *likely* to result in injury or harm or is likely to endanger the person, health, safety or well-being of the child.” (R., p.173 (emphasis added).) The prosecutor commented, “I don’t know that I like the word likely as opposed to potentially.” (Tr., p.501, Ls.18–20.) The district court did not address this comment and moved on to the next instruction. (Tr., p.501, Ls.20–22.) There was no further discussion of the willful definition for felony injury to a child during the final jury instruction conference. (*See generally* Tr., p.494, L.6–p.506, L.16.)

For felony injury to a child, the district court instructed the jury:

In order for the defendant to be guilty of Felony Injury to a Child, the State must prove each of the following:

1. On or about May 16, 2016
2. in the State of Idaho
3. the defendant, Robert Snow Derrick,
4. had the care or custody of [R.B.]
5. who was a child under 18 years of age, and
6. the defendant willfully, by causing a traumatic injury to [R.B.]’s abdomen and/or spleen, caused [R.B.]’s person or health to be injured, and
7. the above occurred under circumstances or conditions likely to produce great bodily harm or death to [R.B.]

If any of the above has not been proven beyond a reasonable doubt, you must find the defendant not guilty. If each of the above has been proven beyond a reasonable doubt, then you must find the defendant guilty.

The word “willfully” as used in this instruction means acting where a reasonable person would know the act is *likely* to result in injury or harm or is *likely* to endanger the person, health, safety or well-being of the child.

(R., p.173 (Instruction No. 13.1) (emphasis added); Tr., p.511, Ls.16–20.)

In her closing argument, the prosecutor circled back to her concern with the willful instruction. She argued in closing to the jury:

Let’s go to willfully. Very bottom of that page. Look at the definition of willfully. A reasonable person would know the act is likely, could, potentially, *pick the word you like*, but the court has used likely to result in injury or harm or is likely to endanger the person, health, safety, or well being of the child. So let’s break this down. . . .

(Tr., p.524, Ls.8–14 (emphasis added).) After further argument, the prosecutor stated, “Given these facts, Robert Derrick had reason to know that, as an adult with his height, with his weight, if he punched [R.B.], a child who was shorter and weighs less than him, that if he punches [R.B.] in the stomach, [R.B.]’s health or person *likely or could be* injured or endangered.” (Tr., p.525, Ls.2–7.) Similarly, the prosecutor stated after additional argument, “Given all the facts, Robert Derrick had a reason to know that as an adult in a rage like he was at that time, if he punched [R.B.] in the stomach, [R.B.]’s health or person *could likely* be injured or endangered.” (Tr., p.526, Ls.16–19.) The jury found Mr. Derrick guilty of felony injury to a child. (Tr., p.559, Ls.4–6; R., p.164.)

The district court sentenced Mr. Derrick to ten years, with two years fixed. (Tr., p.602, Ls.13–15; R., pp.198–202.) Mr. Derrick timely appealed from the district court’s judgment of conviction. (R., pp.206–08.)

## ISSUES

- I. Did the prosecutor commit misconduct and thereby violate Mr. Derrick's unwaived constitutional rights to due process and a fair trial when she misstated the law in her closing argument?
- II. Did the district court abuse its discretion when it admitted an audio recording without proper foundation from the State?

## ARGUMENT

### I.

#### The Prosecutor Committed Misconduct And Thereby Violated Mr. Derrick's Unwaived Constitutional Rights To Due Process And A Fair Trial When The Prosecutor Misstated The Law In Her Closing Argument

##### A. Introduction

Mr. Derrick contends his unwaived constitutional rights to due process and a fair trial were violated when the prosecutor misstated the law to the jury in her closing argument. He further contends this error is clear from the record and was not harmless.

##### B. Standard Of Review

This Court reviews unobjected-to prosecutorial misconduct pursuant to the fundamental error standard:

Such review includes a three-prong inquiry wherein the defendant bears the burden of persuading the appellate court that the alleged error: (1) violates one or more of the defendant's unwaived constitutional rights; (2) plainly exists (without the need for any additional information not contained in the appellate record, including information as to whether the failure to object was a tactical decision); and (3) was not harmless.

*State v. Perry*, 150 Idaho 209, 227, 228 (2010).

##### C. The Prosecutor Committed Misconduct When She Told The Jurors To "Pick The Word You Like" For The Charged Offense's Mental State

Mr. Derrick contends the prosecutor committed misconduct by misstating the law in her closing argument. He did not object to the misconduct, so he must show fundamental error on appeal. Mr. Derrick submits this standard has been met because the prosecutorial misconduct violated his unwaived Fourteenth Amendment rights to due process and a fair trial, is obvious from the record, and was not harmless.

“[E]very defendant has a Fourteenth Amendment right to due process and ‘[i]t is axiomatic that ‘[a] fair trial in a fair tribunal is a basic requirement of due process.’” *Perry*, 150 Idaho at 224 (second and third alterations in original) (quoting *Caperton v. A.T. Massey Coal Co.*, 556 U.S. 868, 876 (2009)) “Prosecutorial misconduct may so infect the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution.” *State v. Jimenez*, 159 Idaho 466, 472 (Ct. App. 2015) (citing *Greer v. Miller*, 483 U.S. 756, 765 (1987); *Perry*, 150 Idaho at 227; *State v. Gamble*, 146 Idaho 331, 344 (Ct. App. 2008)). “Where a prosecutor attempts to secure a verdict on any factor other than the law as set forth in the jury instructions and the evidence admitted during trial, including reasonable inferences that may be drawn from that evidence, this impacts a defendant’s Fourteenth Amendment right to a fair trial.” *Perry*, 150 Idaho at 227.

Closing argument is an opportunity for the attorneys on each side to clarify the issues that must be resolved by the jury; to review the evidence and discuss, from the parties’ respective standpoints, the inferences that jurors should draw therefrom; and to discuss the law set forth in the jury instructions as it applies to the trial evidence.

*State v. Erickson*, 148 Idaho 679, 685 (Ct. App. 2010) (citing *State v. Beebe*, 145 Idaho 570, 576 (Ct. App. 2007)). “Both sides have traditionally been afforded considerable latitude in closing argument to the jury . . . .” *State v. Sheahan*, 139 Idaho 267, 280 (2003). “Considerable latitude, however, has its limits, both in matters expressly stated and those implied.” *State v. Phillips*, 144 Idaho 82, 86 (Ct. App. 2007). “Urgings, explicit or implied, for the jury to render a verdict based on factors other than the evidence admitted at trial and the law contained in the jury instructions have no place in closing arguments.” *Erickson*, 148 Idaho at 685 (quoting *Beebe*, 145 Idaho at 576)).

“It is prosecutorial misconduct to misrepresent the State’s burden to prove an accused’s guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.” *State v. Herrera*, 152 Idaho 24, 31 (Ct. App. 2011). It is also “prosecutorial misconduct for a prosecutor to misstate the law in closing arguments.” *State v. Iverson*, 155 Idaho 766, 771 (Ct. App. 2014) (citing *State v. Coffin*, 146 Idaho 166, 170 (Ct. App. 2008); *Phillips*, 144 Idaho at 86).

Here, the prosecutor committed misconduct because she misstated the law on the willful mental state during her closing argument. The mental state of willfulness for felony injury to a child is explicitly defined in the statute: “As used in this section, ‘willfully’ means acting or failing to act where a reasonable person would know the act or failure to act is *likely* to result in injury or harm or is likely to endanger the person, health, safety or well-being of the child.” I.C. § 18-1501(5) (emphasis added). Moreover, the standard criminal jury instruction for felony injury to a child uses this same definition: “The word ‘willfully’ means acting or failing to act where a reasonable person would know the act or failure to act is *likely* to result in injury or harm or is likely to endanger the person, health, safety or well-being of the child.” Idaho Criminal Jury Instruction 1244 (emphasis added). The jury instruction here mirrored these definitions, instructing the jury: “The word “willfully” as used in this instruction means acting where a reasonable person would know the act is *likely* to result in injury or harm or is likely to endanger the person, health, safety or well-being of the child.”<sup>2</sup> (R., p.173 (emphasis added).) Thus, the definition of willfulness for felony injury to a child is beyond dispute. It requires the State to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, a reasonable person would know the act is *likely* to result in injury, harm, or endangerment to the child.

---

<sup>2</sup> The jury instruction in this case omitted the statute’s and standard instruction’s reference to “failing to act” because the alleged crime here was not a failure to act, but rather the act of punching R.B.

Despite this undisputed definition, the prosecutor here chose to advance a different definition of willfulness to the jury. And she urged the jury to “pick the word you like” when evaluating Mr. Derrick’s mental state for the charged offense. The prosecutor argued:

Let’s go to willfully. Very bottom of that page. Look at the definition of willfully. A reasonable person would know the act is *likely, could, potentially, pick the word you like, but the court has used likely* to result in injury or harm or is likely to endanger the person, health, safety, or well being of the child. So let’s break this down. . . .

(Tr., p.524, Ls.8–14 (emphasis added).) Although prosecutor acknowledged the district court used “likely,” she told the jurors to “pick the word you like” and offered some examples of “could” or “potentially.” Essentially, the prosecutor told the jury that they could select and apply their own reasonable person standard. Later on, the prosecutor applied her preferred definition of willfully to the facts of the case. She argued Mr. Derrick “had reason to know” R.B. “*likely or could be* injured or endangered.” (Tr., p.525, Ls.2–7.) She also argued Mr. Derrick “had a reason to know . . . [R.B.]’s health or person *could likely* be injured or endangered.” (Tr., p.526, Ls.16–19.) This was prosecutorial misconduct. The “only plausible reasoning” for the prosecutor’s closing argument was that she was arguing the jury could convict Mr. Derrick for injuring R.B. even the jury found a reasonable person would only know that the act of punching R.B. could or potentially injure him, as opposed to a likely injury. *See Coffin*, 146 Idaho at 171. “This is in direct contravention” to the jury instruction “as well as the requirement” of the felony injury to a child statute. *See id.*

This distinction between “likely,” “could,” and “potentially” matters because these words have different meanings. “Likely” means “having a high probability of occurring or being true” and “very probable.” Merriam-Webster Online Dictionary, *available at* <https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/likely> (last visited November 16, 2017). The probability of occurrence is

much lower with “could” or “potentially.” “Can,” the present tense of “could,” is defined in relevant part as “used to indicate possibility.” Merriam-Webster Online Dictionary, *available at* <https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/can> (last visited November 16, 2017). Similarly, “potentially” means “existing in possibility: capable of development into actuality” and “expressing possibility; specifically: of, relating to, or constituting a verb phrase expressing possibility, liberty, or power by the use of an auxiliary with the infinitive of the verb (as in ‘it may rain’).” Merriam-Webster Online Dictionary, *available at* <https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/potentially> (last visited November 16, 2017) (*italics omitted*). These definitions refer to something that might happen, as opposed to something that is likely to happen. By informing the jury that they only had to find reasonable person could, potentially, or might know the act would cause injury, the prosecutor misrepresented and diminished her burden of proof on Mr. Derrick’s mental statute. Accordingly, Mr. Derrick has met his burden show to a violation of his constitutional rights to due process and a fair trial because the prosecutor committed misconduct in misrepresenting the law on a critical element of the crime to the jury.

Further, this constitutional violation is clear and plain from the record. It is well established that misstatements of the law constitute misconduct. *Iverson*, 155 Idaho at 771; *Coffin*, 146 Idaho at 170; *Phillips*, 144 Idaho at 86. It is also well established that “willfulness is plainly an element of this crime.” *State v. Gonzales*, 158 Idaho 112, 117 (Ct. App. 2015) (citing *State v. Jones*, 140 Idaho 755, 758 (2004); *State v. Young*, 138 Idaho 370, 372–73 (2002)). “Willfulness is a necessary element of felony injury to a child because it is named in the statute and without willful intent the information would describe a non-crime.” *Jones*, 140 Idaho at 758 (citing *Young*, 138 Idaho at 372–73). It follows that there is no tactical or strategic reason for defense counsel to fail to object to the prosecutor’s misstatement of the law on an essential

element of the crime, especially the very element that elevates the conduct from “innocent mistakes in judgment” to a criminal offense. *See Young*, 138 Idaho at 373. Defense counsel gains no benefit or advantage by allowing the prosecutor—who occupies an official position that necessarily leads jurors to give more credence to his or her statements—to misrepresent the law to the jury. *See Phillips*, 144 Idaho at 87 (quoting *State v. Irwin*, 9 Idaho 35, 43–44 (1903)) (“Prosecutors too often forget that they are a part of the machinery of the court, and that they occupy an official position, which necessarily leads jurors to give more credence to their statements, action, and conduct in the course of the trial and in the presence of the jury than they will give to counsel for the accused.”). In mispresenting the law, the prosecutor encouraged the jury to apply a lesser burden of proof to the mental state element. The prosecutor also encouraged the jury to “pick the word you like” on the reasonable person standard. Each juror could have applied his or her own reasonable person standard instead of following the district court’s instruction. A reasonable jurist would have wanted the jury to be properly instructed and not misinformed by the prosecutor. Thus, Mr. Derrick has met his burden to show the violation of his unwaived constitutional rights to due process and a fair trial plainly exists.

Finally, this error was not harmless. An error is not harmless “if there is a reasonable possibility that the error affected the outcome of the trial.” *Perry*, 150 Idaho at 226. If the jurors accepted the prosecutor’s invitation to pick the word he or she liked for the reasonable person standard, the State did not have to prove the elements of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt. The State effectively reduced or diminished its burden of proof at trial. It cannot be said that the possibility that the jury failed to find all the essential elements of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt was a harmless error. Mr. Derrick asserts the prosecutorial misconduct in this case “affected [his] substantial rights” and was not harmless. *Id.*

## II.

### The District Court Abused Its Discretion When It Admitted An Audio Recording Without A Proper Foundation From The State

#### A. Introduction

Mr. Derrick asserts the district court abused its discretion by admitting the audio recording of a portion of his conversation with Officer Jansen (State's Exhibit 9). Specifically, he argues the State did not provide a proper foundation to authenticate the recording as an accurate and complete representation of that portion of the conversation.

#### B. Standard Of Review

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