Uldaho Law

## Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

---

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

---

2-23-2018

### State v. Derrick Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44985

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

## ARGUMENT

### I.

#### Derrick Has Failed To Carry His Burden Of Demonstrating Fundamental Error In Relation To His Unpreserved Claim Of Prosecutorial Misconduct

##### A. Introduction

For the first time on appeal, Derrick argues the prosecutor misstated the law during her closing argument and, in so doing, violated his “unwaived constitutional rights to due process and a fair trial.” (Appellant’s brief, pp.6-11.) Derrick’s argument fails; a review of the challenged statement in light of the record and the applicable law shows no misconduct, much less misconduct rising to the level of fundamental error.

##### B. Standard Of Review

“[T]he standard of review governing claims of prosecutorial misconduct depends on whether the defendant objected to the misconduct at trial.” State v. Severson, 147 Idaho 694, 715, 215 P.3d 414, 435 (2009). Where, as here, a defendant fails to timely object at trial to allegedly improper closing arguments by the prosecutor, the conviction will be set aside for prosecutorial misconduct only upon a showing by the defendant that the alleged misconduct rises to the level of fundamental error. State v. Perry, 150 Idaho 209, 228, 245 P.3d 961, 980 (2010).

##### C. Derrick Has Failed To Show Any Misconduct, Much Less Misconduct Rising To The Level Of Fundamental Error

An unpreserved issue may only be considered on appeal if it “constitutes fundamental error.” State v. Johnson, 149 Idaho 259, 265, 233 P.3d 190, 196 (Ct. App. 2010). In the absence of an objection “the appellate court’s authority to remedy that error

is strictly circumscribed to cases where the error results in the defendant being deprived of his or her Fourteenth Amendment due process right to a fair trial in a fair tribunal.” State v. Perry, 150 Idaho 209, 224, 245 P.3d 961, 976 (2010). Review without objection will not lie unless (1) the defendant demonstrates that “one or more of the defendant’s unwaived constitutional rights were violated”; (2) the constitutional error is “clear or obvious” on the record, “without the need for any additional information” including information “as to whether the failure to object was a tactical decision”; and (3) the “defendant must demonstrate that the error affected the defendant’s substantial rights,” generally by showing a reasonable probability that the error “affected the outcome of the trial proceedings.” Id. at 226, 245 P.3d at 978.

Derrick was charged with felony injury to a child, in violation of I.C. § 18-1501(1). (R., pp.69-71.) Consistent with the language of both the statute and the pattern jury instruction, the district court instructed the jury that, to find Derrick guilty, the state must have proved, *inter alia*, that Derrick “willfully, by causing a traumatic injury to [his stepson, R.B.’s] abdomen and/or spleen, caused [R.B.’s] person or health to be injured” and that he did so under circumstances or conditions likely to produce great bodily harm or death to [R.B.]” (R., p.173.) The court further instructed the jury that “[t]he word ‘willfully’ as used in this instruction means acting where a reasonable person would know the act is likely to result in injury or harm or is likely to endanger the person, health, safety or well-being of the child.” (R., p.173 (compare with I.C. § 18-1501(5) and I.C.J.I. 1244).)

In arguing to the jury that it should find Derrick guilty of felony injury to a child, the prosecutor, during closing argument, referred to the foregoing instruction and

summarized the evidence that, from the state's perspective, proved each element of the crime. (See Tr., p.521, L.16 – p.528, L.10.) Specifically, regarding the mental state element of felony injury to a child, the prosecutor stated:

Let's go to willfully. Very bottom of that page. Look at the definition of willfully. *A reasonable person would know the act is likely, could, potentially, pick the word you like, but the court has used likely to result in injury or harm or is likely to endanger the person, health, safety, or well being of the child.*

(Tr., p.524, Ls.8-14 (emphasis added).)

Derrick did not object to the prosecutor's argument below, but he contends on appeal that the prosecutor committed misconduct rising to the level of fundamental error by "urg[ing] the jury to 'pick the word you like' when evaluating Mr. Derrick's mental state for the charged offense." (Appellant's brief, p.9.) According to Derrick, "[b]y informing the jury that they [sic] only had to find a reasonable person could, potentially, or might know the act would cause injury, the prosecutor" misstated the law and "misrepresented and diminished her burden of proof on Mr. Derrick's mental state." (Appellant's brief, pp.9-10.) Derrick's argument is without merit; he has failed to show that the complained of statement was improper, much less that it rose to the level of fundamental error.

A prosecutor has considerable latitude in closing argument. State v. Severson, 147 Idaho 694, 720, 215 P.3d 414, 440 (2009); State v. Porter, 130 Idaho 772, 786, 948 P.2d 127, 141 (1997); State v. Priest, 128 Idaho 6, 14, 909 P.2d 624, 632 (Ct. App. 1995). He or she is entitled to argue all reasonable inferences from the evidence in the record. Severson, 147 Idaho at 720, 215 P.3d at 440; Porter, 130 Idaho at 786, 948 P.2d at 141 (citing State v. Garcia, 100 Idaho 108, 110, 594 P.2d 146, 148 (1979)). A prosecutor may

not “attempt[] to secure a verdict on any factor other than the law as set forth in the jury instructions and the evidence admitted during trial,” however, as doing so “impacts a defendant’s Fourteenth Amendment right to a fair trial.” Perry, 150 Idaho at 227, 245 P.3d at 979; see also State v. Coffin, 146 Idaho 166, 170, 191 P.3d 244, 248 (Ct. App. 2008) (citing State v. Phillips, 144 Idaho 82, 86, 156 P.3d 583, 587 (Ct. App. 2007)) (“It is prosecutorial misconduct for a prosecutor to misstate the law in closing arguments.”).

Contrary to Derrick’s claims on appeal, the prosecutor’s statement in this case – that “willfully” means “[a] reasonable person would know the act is likely, could, potentially, pick the word you like, but the court has used likely to result in injury or harm or is likely to endanger the person, health, safety, or well being of the child” – ultimately did not misstate the law. The state readily acknowledges that “willfully,” in the context of a felony injury to child charge, means “acting or failing to act where a reasonable person would know the act or failure to act is likely to result in injury or harm or is likely to endanger the person, health, safety or well-being of the child.” I.C. § 18-1501(5); accord I.C.J.I. 1244. Although the prosecutor appears to have initially used the words “could” and “potentially” as synonymous with the word “likely” and told the jurors to “pick the word you like,” she ultimately told the jury that the term “willfully,” as used in the court’s instructions, meant a reasonable person would know the act “is likely to result in injury or harm or is likely to endanger the person, health, safety, or well being of the child.” (Tr., p.524, Ls.8-14.) This was a correct statement of the law.

Even assuming the challenged statement was improper, Derrick has not met his burden of demonstrating it rose to the level of fundamental error. As noted above, the first prong of the fundamental error test requires Derrick to demonstrate a constitutional

violation. Perry, 150 Idaho at 226, 245 P.3d at 978. Derrick argues that the prosecutor's statement violated his constitutional rights to due process and a fair trial because the words "could" and "potentially" "refer to something that might happen, as opposed to something that is likely to happen"; therefore, Derrick contends, the prosecutor's use of those words, combined with her suggestion to the jury to "pick the word you like," "misrepresented and diminished her burden of proof" on the mental state element of the crime. (Appellant's brief, pp.9-10.) Derrick's argument is unavailing for at least two reasons.

First, the argument ignores the fact that the jury was specifically instructed that it must "apply the law set forth in [the court's] instructions," that it must "follow [the court's] instructions regardless of [the jury's] own opinion of what the law is or should be, or what either side may state the law to be," that it was to "follow all the rules" as explained by the court, and that "[i]f anyone states a rule of law different from any" provided by the court, it was the court's instruction that the jury "must follow." (R., pp.149, 168.) Derrick does not dispute that the actual elements instruction was a correct statement of the law; his only argument is effectively that the jury ignored that instruction and could have concluded he was guilty based on a lower standard than required by the court's instruction. The law, however, presumes the contrary. See, e.g., State v. Joy, 155 Idaho 1, 7, 304 P.3d 276, 282 (2013) ("Idaho appellate courts ... presume that a jury follows the instructions it is given." (citation omitted)).

Second, despite the prosecutor's initial use of the words "could" and "potentially," a review of the prosecutor's substantive argument on the willfulness element shows the prosecutor did not urge the jury to convict on a lesser standard of proof than required by

the law as set forth in the court's instruction. Instead, the prosecutor argued that the evidence supported a finding that Derrick acted "willfully" because a reasonable person in his position would have known that punching R.B. in the stomach was "likely" to injure R.B. and/or to endanger his health and well-being. She stated:

... What is the act? The act has been testified to as a punch to the stomach and/or a throw to the deck. A reasonable person, what does that mean? This instruction is not asking you to decide whether this defendant is reasonable. But it is asking you to decide what a reasonable person would know, given the facts of this case. What a reasonable person. The common man. The every man in our society. To do that, you need to look at what you know about Robert Derrick.

Robert Derrick is an adult. He's 46 years old. He stands six foot tall, 175 pounds. He knows [R.B.] is 13, he knows [R.B.'s] height, he knows [R.B.'s] weight. Given these facts, Robert Derrick had reason to know that, as an adult with his height, with his weight, if he punched [R.B.], a child who was shorter and weighs less than him, that if he punches [R.B.] in the stomach, [R.B.'s] health or person likely or could be injured or endangered.

(Tr., p.524, L.15 – p.525, L.7), and

Given all these facts, Robert Derrick had a reason to know that as an adult in a rage like he was at that time, if he punched [R.B.] in the stomach, [R.B.'s] health or person could likely be injured or endangered.

(Tr., p.526, Ls.16-19).

Even assuming Derrick could overcome the first prong of the Perry test for fundamental error, his claim of prosecutorial misconduct nevertheless fails on the second prong of the test, which requires Derrick to demonstrate that the error he asserts is "clear or obvious" on the record, without the need for any additional information, including whether the failure to object was a tactical decision. Perry, 150 Idaho at 226, 245 P.3d at 978. Derrick argues that, because the willfulness element of felony injury to a child "elevates the conduct from 'innocent mistakes in judgment' to a criminal offense," "there

is no tactical or strategic reason for defense counsel to fail to object to the prosecutor's misstatement of the law on [that] essential element of the crime." (Appellant's brief, pp.10-11 (citing State v. Young, 138 Idaho 370, 372-73, 64 P.3d 296, 298-99 (2002).) Derrick's argument is belied by a review of the trial record, which shows at least one conceivable reason why Derrick's counsel would not have objected to the prosecutor's argument, even assuming it misstated the law. Derrick's defense at trial was not that he did not *willfully* injure R.B., it was that he did not injure R.B. *at all*. (See generally Tr., p.116, L.8 – p.117, L.11, p.532, L.14 – p.547, L.2.) Derrick testified that he never punched R.B. in the stomach (Tr., p.405, Ls.8-14), and his counsel suggested, both through his examination of witnesses and during his closing argument, that R.B. sustained the injury to his spleen during an altercation with one of his step-siblings, when Derrick was not even present (Tr., p.157, L.23 – p.178, L.20, p.209, L.22 – p.225, L.16, p.291, L.7 – p.302, L.19, p.340, L.15 – p.343, L.9, p.365, L.22 – p.371, L.5, p.449, L.16 – p.457, L.12, p.461, L.20 – p.470, L.18, p.477, Ls.4-20, p.532, L.14 – p.547, L.2). Because Derrick denied the conduct forming the basis of the felony injury to child charge occurred at all, trial counsel would have gained nothing by objecting to the prosecutor's argument regarding the willfulness element and, in fact, could have reasonably concluded that doing so would only invite the jury to reach that element of the charge.

Finally, Derrick has failed to show he was actually prejudiced by the prosecutor's statement. Even assuming that the statement could be construed in a vacuum as having misstated the law, there is no reasonable probability it in any way "affected the outcome of the trial." Perry, 150 Idaho at 226, 245 P.3d at 978. In an attempt to carry his burden on this issue, Derrick merely rehashes his assertion that, "[i]f the jurors accepted the

prosecutor's invitation to pick the word he or she liked for the reasonable person standard, the State did not have to prove the elements of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt." (Appellant's brief, p.11.) Derrick's argument fails because, as explained in greater detail above, the district court specifically instructed the jury that it was to apply the law as set forth in the court's instructions, not as represented by counsel. (R., pp.149, 168.) Derrick has not even mentioned the court's instructions, much less made any effort to overcome the presumption that the jury followed them. Nor has Derrick acknowledged that his defense at trial was that he never injured R.B. at all, not that he did so but that his conduct was not "willful."

Admittedly, because the jury clearly rejected Derrick's version of events and found he was the person who caused R.B.'s injury, it was necessarily required to determine whether Derrick's conduct was willful. Derrick, however, never disputed that, if the jurors believed the state's witnesses' testimony that he punched R.B. in the abdomen, such conduct was anything other than willful. Nor could he because the state's evidence on this element was overwhelming. The evidence showed Derrick—who was six feet tall, weighed 175 pounds, and was "much stronger" than his 13-year-old stepson, R.B. (Tr., p.162, Ls.13-19, p.283, Ls.10-15)—"grabbed [R.B.] in a choke hold," dragged him across the room, punched him in the abdomen and threw him to the ground (Tr., p.139, L.1 – p.144, L.2, p.198, L.17 – p.202, L.16). The punch was so forceful that it caused R.B. to cry, made it difficult for him get up off the ground and, ultimately, lacerated his spleen. (Tr., p.202, L.18 – p.203, L.2, p.240, L.6 – p.249, L.9.) In light of this evidence, a rational jury who believed that Derrick punched R.B. in the manner testified to by the state's witnesses could only conclude that a reasonable person in

Derrick's position would have known that his conduct was "likely to result in injury or harm or [was] likely to endanger the person, health, safety or well-being of" R.B. and, as such, the conduct was willful.

In light of the foregoing evidence that overwhelmingly established Derrick's guilt on the "willfully" element of felony injury to a child, and assuming, as this Court must, that the jury followed the court's instructions, State v. Grantham, 146 Idaho 490, 498, 198 P.3d 128, 136 (Ct. App. 2008), there is no reasonable possibility the prosecutor's statement affected the outcome of the trial. Derrick has failed to carry his burden of demonstrating fundamental error with respect to his unpreserved claim of prosecutorial misconduct. This Court should therefore decline to review the claim for the first time on appeal.

## II.

### Derrick Has Failed To Show The District Court Abused Its Discretion In Concluding The State Laid Adequate Foundation For The Admission Of An Audio Recording Of A Portion Of Derrick's Interaction With Law Enforcement

#### A. Introduction And Relevant Facts

During the state's case-in-chief, R.B. and R.B.'s mother both testified that Derrick put R.B. in a headlock; then, using his free arm, Derrick punched R.B. in the stomach, opened a sliding glass door, and threw R.B. out the door and onto the deck of their home. (Tr., p.139, L.21 – p.144, L.5, p.160, L.14 – p.164, L.4, p.193, L.7 – p.203, L.12.) Officers Hayes and Jansen testified that they responded to Derrick's residence on the night of the charged crimes, and both officers testified regarding the substance of their conversations with Derrick and R.B.'s mother, as well as to their observations of Derrick's demeanor during their interactions with him. (Tr., p.272, L.3 – p.276, L.1,

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